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Consolidated
Financial
 

for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014

Statements



(in CHF 1 000)	 Notes	  2015  	  2014  

Continuing operations			 

Revenue from sale of goods		   137 175  	  140 545  

Cost of goods sold		   (61 258) 	  (62 449) 

Gross profit		   75 917  	  78 096  

Research & development expense		   (6 519) 	  (6 169) 

Selling, general and administrative expense		   (54 652) 	  (55 799) 

Other operating income (expense), net	 7	  75  	  (464) 

Operating profit (EBIT)		   14 821  	  15 664  

Financial income	 8	  1 064  	  90  

Financial expense 	 8	  (72) 	  (1 039) 

Profit before income tax		   15 813  	  14 715  

Income tax expense	 20	  (3 547) 	  (3 560) 

Net profit for the year		   12 266  	  11 155  

Other comprehensive income			 

Actuarial gains (losses) on employee benefit obligations	 18	  (1 375) 	  (509) 

Tax impact on actuarial gains (losses) on employee benefit obligations		   351  	  125  

Total items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss		   (1 024) 	  (384) 

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations		   (7 470) 	  (1 020) 

Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss		   (7 470) 	  (1 020) 

Total other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax		   (8 494) 	  (1 404) 

Total comprehensive income for the year		   3 772  	  9 751  

Net profit attributable to owners of Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG		   12 266  	  11 155  

Comprehensive income attributable to owners of Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG		   3 772  	  9 751  

Earnings per share from net profit of continuing operations  

for the year attributable to owners of Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG 
 
(in CHF per share)			 

Basic and diluted earnings per share of continuing operations:			 

 - registered shares	 9	  3.45  	  3.14  

 - bearer shares	 9	  17.26  	  15.69  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements		
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Balance Sheets

 

(in CHF 1 000)		  Notes	  2015  	  2014  

Assets			 

Current assets			 

Cash and cash equivalents		   45 819  	  47 112  

Trade receivables	 11	  26 657  	  29 644  

Other receivables	 12	  4 335  	  5 061  

Inventories	 13	  20 405  	  23 586  

Total current assets		   97 216  	  105 403  

Non-current assets			 

Property, plant and equipment	 14	  10 438  	  10 411  

Intangible assets	 15	  6 504  	  7 067  

Other receivables	 12	  1 713  	  1 296  

Deferred income tax assets	 20	  4 978  	  4 429  

Total non-current assets		   23 633  	  23 203  

Total assets		   120 849  	  128 606  

Liabilities and equity

Current liabilities 			 

Trade payables		   8 138  	  10 423  

Other payables	 16	  12 933  	  14 295  

Borrowings	 17	  607  	  766  

Current income tax liabilities	 20	  1 031  	  1 181  

Total current liabilities		   22 709  	  26 665  

Non-current liabilities			 

Other payables	 16	  1 325  	  871  

Borrowings	 17	  165  	  284  

Employee benefit obligations	 18	  7 403  	  6 742  

Other provisions	 19	  589  	  692  

Deferred income tax liabilities	 20	  169  	  106  

Total non-current liabilities		   9 651  	  8 695  

Total liabilities		   32 360  	  35 360  

Equity			 

Share capital	 21	  10 661  	  10 661  

Capital reserves		   600  	  600  

Other reserves		   (26 648) 	  (18 154) 

Retained earnings		   103 876  	  100 139  

Total equity attributable to owners of Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG		   88 489  	  93 246  

Total liabilities and equity		   120 849  	  128 606  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

				  

 
	 	    March 31	 March 31
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			   Share	 Capital	 Other 	 Retained	 Total 
(in CHF 1 000)		  Notes	 capital	 reserves	 reserves 	 earnings	 equity   

Equity at April 1, 2013			    10 661  	  600  	  (16 750) 	  106 752  	  101 263  

Net profit for the year			    -  	  -  	  -  	  11 155  	  11 155  

Actuarial gains (losses) on employee benefit 

obligations, net of tax			    -  	  -  	  (384) 	  -  	  (384) 

Exchange difference on translation  

of foreign operations			    -  	  -  	  (1 020) 	  -  	  (1 020) 

Other comprehensive income  

for the year			    -  	  -  	  (1 404) 	  -  	  (1 404) 

Total comprehensive income  

for the year			    -  	  -  	  (1 404) 	  11 155  	  9 751  

Dividends		  10	  -  	  -  	  -  	  (17 768) 	  (17 768) 

Total transactions with owners			    -  	  -  	  -  	  (17 768) 	  (17 768) 

Equity at March 31, 2014			    10 661  	  600  	  (18 154) 	  100 139  	  93 246  

Net profit for the year			    -  	  -  	  -  	  12 266  	  12 266  

Actuarial gains (losses) on employee benefit 

obligations, net of tax			    -  	  -  	  (1 024) 	  -  	  (1 024) 

Exchange difference on translation  

of foreign operations			    -  	  -  	  (7 470) 	  -  	  (7 470) 

Other comprehensive income  

for the year			    -  	  -  	  (8 494) 	  -  	  (8 494) 

Total comprehensive income  

for the year			    -  	  -  	  (8 494) 	  12 266  	  3 772  

Dividends		  10	  -  	  -  	  -  	  (8 529) 	  (8 529) 

Total transactions with owners			    -  	  -  	  -  	  (8 529) 	  (8 529) 

Equity at March 31, 2015			    10 661  	  600  	  (26 648) 	  103 876  	  88 489  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

	

Attributable to owners of Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG
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(in CHF 1 000)		  Notes	 2015	 2014

Cash flow from operating activities			 

Profit for the year		   12 266  	  11 155  

Income taxes	 20	  3 547  	  3 560  

Depreciation and amortization		   3 285  	  3 345  

Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment	 7	  (59) 	  (17) 

Change in other non-cash items		   (633) 	  167  

Changes in working capital:			 

- Change in trade receivables and other receivables		   944  	  1 433  

- Change in inventories		   1 331  	  1 154  

- Change in trade payables and other payables		   (1 633) 	  (527) 

Cash generated from operations		   19 048  	  20 270  

Interest received		   64  	  83  

Interest paid		   (59) 	  (52) 

Taxes paid		   (4 036) 	  (4 722) 

Cash flow from operating activities		   15 017  	  15 579  

Cash flow from investing activities			 

Purchases of property, plant and equipment	 14	  (4 167) 	  (3 152) 

Purchases of intangible assets	 15	  (246) 	  (239) 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment		   201  	  112  

Cash flow from investing activities		   (4 212) 	  (3 279) 

Cash flow from financing activities			 

Dividends paid	 10	  (8 529) 	  (17 768) 

Proceeds from borrowings		   -  	  391  

Repayment of borrowings		   (278) 	  (246) 

Cash flow from financing activities		   (8 807) 	  (17 623) 

Change in cash and cash equivalents		   1 998  	  (5 323) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		   47 112  	  52 924  

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents		   (3 291) 	  (489) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year		   45 819  	  47 112  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements		
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1. General information

Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG with its subsidiaries 
(together Carlo Gavazzi Group, hereinafter  
“the Group”) is an internationally active electronics 
company. Its core business Automation Components 
consists of design and manufacture of electronic 
control components for the global industrial 
automation markets. Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG 
is a publicly traded company listed on the Swiss 
stock exchange (SIX Swiss Exchange) in Zurich. The 
address of its registered office is Sumpfstrasse 3, 
CH-6312 Steinhausen, Switzerland. 

The financial year of the Group ends on March 31. 
The Group reporting currency is Swiss Francs (CHF). 
The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in thousands of Swiss Francs (CHF 1 000).

These audited consolidated financial statements 
were approved for publication by the Board 
of Directors on June 23, 2015, and will be 
recommended for approval at the Annual General 
Meeting to be held on July 28, 2015.

2. Significant accounting and 
valuation policies

The significant accounting and valuation policies 
employed in the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements are described below. These 
policies have been applied consistently in all of 
the reporting periods presented, unless otherwise 
stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Carlo 
Gavazzi Group have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRS (International Financial Reporting 
Standards). All standards issued by the IASB 
(International Accounting Standards Board) being 

in force on the balance sheet date as well as all 
valid interpretations of IFRIC (International Financial 
Reporting Standards Interpretation Committee) 
have been taken into account.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that may affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities, income and expenses, as 
well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets during the reporting period. 
Whilst these estimates are based on management’s 
best knowledge of current circumstances and 
possible future events, actual results may ultimately 
differ from these estimates.

Certain minor reclassifications were made to prior 
year figures and related note disclosures to conform 
to the current year’s presentation.

2.2 Changes to accounting policies

The following new and revised standards and 
interpretations are mandatory for the first time for 
financial years beginning on or after April 1, 2014, 
but have no material impact or are not currently 
relevant for the Group:

–	 The amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated 
Financial Statements”, IFRS 12 “Disclosure of 
Interests in Other Entities” and IAS 27 “Separate 
Financial Statements” apply to investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates held 
by investment companies.

–	 IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation” 
(amended) clarifies some requirements for 
offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. 
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–	 IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” (amended) 
corrects an amendment to IAS 36 when IFRS 
13 “Fair Value Measurement” was issued 
and introduced additional disclosures for 
measurements based on fair value less costs of 
disposal in case of an impairment or reversal of 
an impairment.

–	 IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement” (amended) clarifies the 
requirements in respect of hedge accounting if a 
hedging derivative is novated.

Selected standards and revisions to standards 
effective for years commencing on or after April 1,  
2015, which have not been early adopted by the 
Group:

–	 The new IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” deals 
with the classification and measurement of 
financial assets and will ultimately replace  
IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement” in its entirety. IFRS 9 introduces 
new requirements for classifying and measuring 
financial assets, thereby reducing the number 
of asset categories from four to two. The version 
of IFRS 9 issued in 2014 supersedes all previous 
versions and is mandatorily effective for periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with early 
adoption permitted.

–	 The new IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers” specifies how and when an 
IFRS reporter will recognize revenue as well 
as requiring such entities to provide users of 
financial statements with more informative, 
relevant disclosures. The standard provides a 
single, principles-based five-step model to be 
applied to all contracts with customers. IFRS 
15 was issued in 2014 and applies to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after  
January 1, 2017. It has now been proposed  
to delay implementation by one year until  
January 1, 2018.

 –	 IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” (amended) clarifies 
the application of IAS 19R to post-employment 
benefit plans that require employees or third 
parties to contribute towards the cost of benefits. 

New standards and interpretations as well as 
amendments and improvements thereto are usually 
applied as of the effective date, however, the Group 
considers early adoption on an individual basis.
If the above standards and interpretations had 
been applied already in the current financial year, 
they would have had no significant effect on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

2.3 Principles of consolidation

Group companies
Group companies are all entities (including 
structured entities) over which the Group has 
control. Carlo Gavazzi Group controls an entity when 
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the entity. New group companies are fully 
consolidated from the time at which control of the 
company is transferred to Carlo Gavazzi Group. They 
are deconsolidated at the point in time at which 
control ceases. 

Assets and liabilities as well as the income 
and expenses of these companies are fully 
(100%) consolidated. All material internal group 
transactions, balances and unrealized profits and 
losses resulting from internal group transactions 
are eliminated.

Non-controlling interests
The share of net assets and net profit attributable to 
non-controlling interests is indicated separately in 
the consolidated balance sheets, the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, and the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity. For 
the years presented, there were no non-controlling 
interests.
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2.4 Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Swiss Francs (CHF) as the presentation currency. 
The group companies compile their financial 
statements in their functional currency, which is the 
currency of the primary economic environment in 
which they operate.

Foreign currency translation
All assets and liabilities in the balance sheets 
of the group companies that are denominated in 
respective functional currencies are translated 
into Swiss Francs at the closing rate. Items in the 
comprehensive income statements and cash flow 
statements are translated at average exchange 
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable 
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates 
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case 
income and expenses are translated at the rate 
on the date of the transactions). The resulting 
translation differences are recognized in other 
comprehensive income. When a group company 
is sold, the cumulative translation differences 
recognized in shareholders’ equity are recycled to 
the income statement.

The following exchange rates into Swiss Francs 
were used during the periods:

Year end rates – balance sheets

Currency	 Unit		  31.3.2015  	   31.3.2014 

					   
BRL	 100		   30.39  	  39.18  

CAD	 1		   0.77  	  0.80  

CNY	 100		   15.67  	  14.22  

DKK 	 100		   13.96  	  16.33  

EUR	 1		   1.04  	  1.22  

GBP	 1		   1.44  	  1.47  

HKD	 100		   12.53  	  11.60  

LTL	 100		   30.21  	  35.28  

MYR	 100		   26.23  	  27.14  

NOK	 100		   12.05  	  14.76  

SEK	 100		   11.26  	  13.63  

SGD	 1		   0.71  	  0.71  

USD 	 1		   0.97  	  0.88    

Average rates - comprehensive income statement

Currency	 Unit		   – 31.3.2015  	  – 31.3.2014

BRL	 100		   37.95  	  41.09  

CAD	 1		   0.82  	  0.87  

CNY	 100		   15.12  	  14.93  

DKK 	 100		   15.81  	  16.49  

EUR	 1		   1.18  	  1.23  

GBP	 1		   1.50  	  1.46  

HKD	 100		   12.00  	  11.84  

LTL	 100		   34.22  	  35.76  

MYR	 100		   27.74  	  28.79  

NOK	 100		   13.97  	  15.34  

SEK	 100		   12.77  	  14.08  

SGD	 1		   0.72  	  0.73  

USD 	 1		   0.93  	  0.92  

   1.4.2014                 1.4.2013
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Foreign currency transactions and balances in the 
individual financial statements
Foreign currency transactions are translated 
into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or 
valuation where items are remeasured.

All exchange differences are recognized in the 
income statement, except for intercompany 
transactions having the nature of a permanent 
financial investment which are directly recorded in 
equity. 

2.5 Cash and cash equivalents

The Group considers all highly liquid investments 
with original maturity of three months or less to be 
cash.

Cash and cash equivalents are reported at their 
nominal value.

2.6 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method, less 
provision for impairment. The amount of the 
provision for impairment is determined by analyzing 
known uncollectible accounts, aged receivables, 
economic conditions in the customers’ country 
or industry, historical losses and the customers’ 
creditworthiness.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade 
receivables are limited due to the large number 
of geographically diverse customers which make 
up the Group’s customer base, thus spreading 
credit risk. Some European countries require 
longer payment terms as a part of doing business 
and this may subject the Group to a higher risk 
of non-collectability. This risk is evaluated when 

determining the provision for impairment of 
receivables. The Group generally does not require 
collateral from its customers. 

Changes to the provision for impairment of 
receivables as well as effective losses due to 
bad debts are shown in selling, general and 
administrative expense.

2.7 Other receivables

This item includes all other receivables that do not 
arise from deliveries of products (e.g. VAT credits, 
withholding tax credits, receivables from social 
insurances, etc.). Included are also advances to 
suppliers as well as prepaid expenses (e.g. for rent, 
consulting, insurance premiums, etc.).

Other receivables are recognized initially at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate method.

2.8 Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the 
following categories: at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale. 
The classification depends on the purpose for which 
the financial assets were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its financial assets 
at initial recognition.

a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
are financial assets held for trading. A financial 
asset is classified in this category if acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the short-
term. Derivatives are also categorized as held for 
trading unless they are designated as hedges. 
Assets in this category are classified as current 
assets unless they are not expected to be realized 
within 12 months.
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b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. They are included  
in current assets, except for maturities greater than 
12 months after the end of the reporting period 
which are classified as non-current assets. The 
loans and receivables comprise cash and cash 
equivalents, trade receivables and other receivables 
in the balance sheet (notes 2.5, 2.6 and 2.7).

c) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this 
category or not classified in any of the other 
categories. They are included in non-current assets 
unless the investment matures or management 
intends to dispose of them within 12 months of the 
end of the reporting period.

Recognition and measurement
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets 
are recognized on the trade-date, the date on which 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
Investments are initially recognized at fair value 
plus transaction costs for all financial assets not 
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial 
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss 
are initially recognized at fair value and transaction 
costs are expensed in the income statement. 
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights 
to receive cash flows from the investments have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has 
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets and 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and 
receivables are subsequently carried at amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair 
value of the financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss category are presented in the income 
statement within other operating income (expense), 
net in the period in which they arise. Dividend 

income from financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss is recognized in the income statement 
as part of other operating income (expense), net 
when the Group’s right to receive payment is 
established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities 
denominated in a foreign currency and classified as 
available-for-sale are analyzed between translation 
differences resulting from changes in amortized 
cost of the security and other changes in the 
carrying amount of the security. The translation 
differences on monetary securities are recognized 
in profit or loss; translation differences on non-
monetary securities are recognized in other 
comprehensive income. Changes in the fair value of 
monetary and non-monetary securities classified 
as available-for-sale are recognized in other 
comprehensive income. When securities classified 
as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the 
accumulated fair value adjustments recognized 
in equity are included in the income statement as 
gains and losses from investment securities.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated 
using the effective interest rate method is 
recognized in the income statement as part of 
financial income. Dividends on available-for-sale 
equity instruments are recognized in the income 
statement as part of other operating income 
(expense), net when the Group’s right to receive 
payment is established.

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount is reported in the balance sheet when there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

Impairment of financial assets
a) Assets carried at amortized cost
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting 
period whether there is objective evidence that 
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a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired and impairment losses are 
incurred only if there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a 
loss event) and that loss event (or events) has an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset or group of financial assets that can 
be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that 
there is objective evidence of an impairment loss 
include:

–	 Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or 
obligor;

–	 A breach of contract, such as a default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

–	 The Group, for economic or legal reasons relating 
to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to 
the borrower a concession that the lender would 
not otherwise consider;

–	 It becomes probable that the borrower will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;

–	 The disappearance of an active market for that 
financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

–	 Observable data indicating that there is a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows from a portfolio of financial assets 
since the initial recognition of those assets, 
although the decrease cannot yet be identified 
with the individual financial assets in the 
portfolio, including:

	 (i)	 adverse changes in the payment status of 	
	 borrowers in the portfolio; and

	 (ii)	 national or local economic conditions 		
	 that correlate with defaults on the assets 

		  in the portfolio.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence 
of impairment exists.

The amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not 
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate. The asset’s carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of 
the loss is recognized in the income statement. If a 
loan or held-to-maturity investment has a variable 
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any 
impairment loss is the current effective interest 
rate determined under the contract. As a practical 
expedient, the Group may measure impairment 
on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an 
observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognized (such as an 
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the 
reversal of the previously recognized impairment 
loss is recognized in the income statement. 

b) Assets classified as available-for-sale
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting 
period whether there is objective evidence that 
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
impaired. For debt securities, the Group uses the 
criteria referred to above. In the case of equity 
investments classified as available-for-sale, a 
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of 
the security below its cost is also evidence that the 
assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists for 
available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative 
loss – measured as the difference between the 
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any 
impairment loss on that financial asset previously 
recognized in profit or loss – is removed from 
equity and recognized in the income statement. 
Impairment losses recognized in the income 
statement on equity instruments are not reversed 
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through the income statement. If, in a subsequent 
period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified 
as available-for-sale increases and the increase can 
be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, 
the impairment loss is reversed through the income 
statement.

2.9 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net 
realizable value. The first-in, first-out (FIFO) method 
is applied to finished goods inventory and the 
weighted-average method is applied to production 
inventory. The cost of finished goods and work in 
progress comprise raw materials, direct labour 
costs and other costs that can be directly allocated, 
such as production overhead expenditures. 
Provision for write-downs is established when there 
is a reasonable indication that the Group will not 
be able to recover the cost of the specific inventory 
items.

2.10 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment include land, 
property used for operational purposes, facilities, 
machinery, IT equipment and vehicles, as well as 
plant and equipment under construction.

Property, plant and equipment are reported at  
their purchase price or construction costs 
less scheduled accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. The cost of 
property, plant and equipment includes the 
estimated costs of dismantling and removing the 
asset and restoring the site on which it is located 
(decommissioning costs) and the corresponding 
liability is recognized in accordance with IAS 37.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives, as follows:

Land		 No depreciation 

Buildings		   50 years  

Leasehold improvements (maximum)		   10 years  

Machinery and equipment		   6 years  

Furniture and fixtures		   6 years  

Vehicles		   4 years  

IT equipment		   3 years  

Maintenance, repairs and minor renewals are 
charged to expense as incurred. Major renewals and 
betterments are capitalized and depreciated over 
their estimated useful lives.

When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, 
the cost is removed from the asset account and the  
corresponding accumulated depreciation is removed 
from the related reserve account. Any gain or loss  
resulting from such retirement or disposal is 
included in the income statement.

2.11 Intangible assets

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an 
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of 
the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary 
at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is tested annually 
for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill 
are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal 
of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill 
relating to the entity sold.
Goodwill is allocated, from the acquisition date, to 
cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating 
units (not higher than operating segment) for the 
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is 
made to those cash-generating units or groups 
of cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from synergies arising from the business 
combination.
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Research and development
Expenditure incurred on research and development 
is distinguished between the research phase 
and the development phase. All research phase 
expenditure is charged to the income statement 
as incurred. For development expenditure, it is 
capitalized as an internally generated intangible 
asset only if it meets strict criteria relating to 
technical feasibility, intention to complete, ability to 
use or sell, generation of future economic benefits, 
availability of adequate technical, financial and other 
resources to complete its development and reliable 
measurement of the costs incurred. Expenditure 
capitalized is amortized over the planned economic 
life or in relation to the expected revenue over the 
economic useful life, up to a maximum of five years 
from the entry-into-service of the product or asset, 
using the straight-line method. Intangible assets 
that do not have a finite economic life and therefore 
cannot be depreciated on a straight-line basis are 
subject to an annual test for impairment.

Software
Acquired computer software licences for own use, 
which are not an integral part of hardware, are 
capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to 
acquire and bring the related software to use. These 
software licences are amortized using the straight-
line method over their useful economic lives, 
generally three years.

2.12 Assets held for sale

The Group’s assets are reclassified as held for sale 
when a sale within one year is highly probable and 
the assets are available for immediate sale in their 
present condition.

Non-current assets held for sale are re-evaluated 
at the lower of fair value less cost to sell or the 
carrying amounts at the date they meet the held 
for sale criteria. Any resulting impairment loss is 
recognized in the income statement. 

The liabilities of an asset classified as held for sale 
or of a group of assets held for sale are disclosed 
separately from other liabilities in the balance 
sheet. Such assets and liabilities may not be offset 
and disclosed as a single amount.

2.13 Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are assessed on each balance 
sheet date for any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists, a test is carried out to 
estimate if the carrying amount could exceed the 
higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use. If this is the case, the appropriate 
impairment loss is recognized.
The same method is applied to reversals of 
impairment losses as for identifying impairment, 
i.e. a review must be carried out on each reporting 
date to assess whether there are indications that an 
impairment loss might no longer exist or might have 
decreased. If this is the case, the amount of the 
decrease in impairment loss must be determined 
(difference between recoverable amount and net 
carrying amount).
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and 
when circumstances indicate that the carrying 
value may be impaired. Impairment is determined 
by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units 
to which the goodwill relates. Impairment losses 
relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future 
years.

2.14 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or 
services that have been acquired in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable 
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due 
within one year or less (or in the normal operating 
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are 
presented as non-current liabilities.
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Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest rate method.

2.15 Other payables

Other payables include non-interest-bearing 
liabilities, in particular VAT liabilities, liabilities for 
social security payments, current and non-current 
employee benefits (e.g. accrued paid annual leave 
and overtime, bonuses, etc.) as well as accrued 
expenses, short-term provisions and prepaid 
income.

Other payables are recognized initially at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest rate method.

2.16 Borrowings

Borrowings are divided into current and non-current 
depending on the time to maturity and include in 
particular bank overdrafts, loans and finance leases. 

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, 
net of transaction costs incurred. In subsequent 
periods, loans are stated at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method with any difference 
between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value being recognized in the income 
statement over the terms of the borrowing.  

2.17 Leasing

Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalized 
as part of the fixed assets. Leased assets are 
depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful 
life of the asset and the lease term.

The associated obligations are included dependent 
on their maturity in current or non-current financial 
liabilities, respectively. 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks 
and rewards of ownership are retained by the 
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments 
made under operating leases (net of any incentives 
received from the lessor) are charged to the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of 
the lease.

2.18 Employee benefits

Pension obligations
The Group has a range of pension plans designed 
to take account of local conditions and practices in 
individual countries in which the Group operates. 
The Swiss subsidiaries provide a defined benefit 
plan for their employees; subsidiaries in other 
jurisdictions provide both defined contribution 
plans and defined benefit plans for their employees. 
The plans are generally funded through payments 
to insurance companies or trustee-administered 
funds. Costs related to post-employment benefits 
are recognized as personnel expenses allocated 
to the functions to which the respective employees 
contribute.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under 
which the Group pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity (insurance company or fund). The 
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to 
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employees benefits 
relating to employee services in the current and 
prior periods. A defined benefit plan is a pension 
plan that is not a defined contribution plan. 
Defined benefit plans typically specify an amount 
of pension benefit that an employee will receive 
upon retirement, usually dependent on one or more 
factors such as age, years of service and salary. 

For defined benefit plans, the amount recognized 
in the balance sheet corresponds to the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance 
sheet date reduced by the fair value of plan assets. 
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually 
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by an independent actuary using the projected unit 
credit method. The present value of the defined 
benefit obligation is determined by discounting 
the estimated future cash outflows using interest 
rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits 
will be paid, and that have terms to maturity 
approximating to the terms of the related pension 
liability. Any underfunding will be recognized 
as a liability. Overfunding, however, will only be 
capitalized to the extent that it represents economic 
benefits for the Group.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions 
are charged or credited to other comprehensive 
income in the period in which they arise.

Past-service costs are recognized immediately in 
the income statement.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays 
contributions to publicly or privately administered 
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, 
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no 
further payment obligations once the contributions 
have been paid.

Termination indemnity
Italian law requires the Italian group companies to 
grant termination indemnity benefits (TFR) to all 
employees. Up to a pension reform which introduced 
new regulations for employee termination benefits 
beginning from January 1, 2007, termination 
indemnity benefits were classified and accounted for 
as defined benefit plans. Beginning January 1, 2007, 
the plans are considered to be defined contribution 
plans. The termination benefit provision accrued up 
to December 31, 2006, continues to be accounted 
for as a defined benefit plan and is recorded at the 
actuarial present value of the benefits for which 
the employees are currently entitled based on the 
employee’s expected separation or retirement date. 
The benefit obligation is not covered by separately 
identified assets (unfunded plan).

Long-term incentive plan
The long-term incentive plan (LTI) was approved by 
the Board of Directors on July 23, 2010; it includes 
the CEO and first-line management of Automation 
Components who have a significant influence on 
the Group’s long-term development and financial 
results. The purpose of the LTI is to strengthen 
the long-term success of the Group and to foster 
commitment and teamwork in that the entitled 
employees are granted cash awards, dependent on 
various criteria allied to the long-term development 
of the Group as a whole. The Group recognizes a 
provision where contractually obliged. The LTI is 
accounted for under IAS 19. The LTI expired on 
March 31, 2014, and was not renewed.

2.19 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation.

A provision is measured on the best estimate 
concept, i.e. the amount recognized as a provision 
is the best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the present obligation on the balance sheet 
date. The amount of a provision is reviewed for 
appropriateness at every balance sheet date.  
Long-term provisions are discounted.

Contingent liabilities arise from past events where 
the outcome depends on future events. As the 
probability either cannot be measured reliably or 
the probability for a subsequent outflow lies below 
50%, contingent liabilities are not recognized in the 
balance sheet but are described in the notes.
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2.20 Equity

Equity includes share capital, capital reserves, other 
reserves and retained earnings.

Share capital is the par value of all outstanding 
shares.

Capital reserves contain gains and losses realized 
on the sale of own shares held in previous years. 

Retained earnings are profits, including legal and 
free reserves, that are not distributed as dividends 
and which are generally freely available.

Other reserves include currency translation 
differences, actuarial gains and losses on post-
employment benefit obligations as well as their 
related income tax effect on other comprehensive 
income.

2.21 Revenue recognition

Revenue from sale of goods comprises all  
revenues that are derived from sales of products 
to third parties after deduction of sales taxes and 
discounts. Revenues from the sale of goods are 
recognized when the significant risks and rewards  
of ownership of the products have passed to the 
buyer, usually upon delivery of the products.

Interest income is recognized using the effective 
interest rate method.

2.22 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs comprise interest and other costs 
that are incurred in connection with the borrowing of 
funds. Borrowing costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset are capitalized as part of the cost of 
that asset.

2.23 Income taxes

Income tax expense for the year comprises current 
and deferred income taxes.
Current income taxes are the expected taxes 
payable on the taxable income for the year of 
the respective group companies including any 
adjustment to taxes payable in respect of previous 
years. Current income taxes are accrued in a 
period-compliant manner.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the 
balance sheet liability method, on temporary 
differences arising between the tax base of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the financial statements. Deferred taxes are 
determined using tax rates that apply, or have been 
substantively enacted, on the balance sheet date in 
the countries where the Group is active. Tax losses 
carried forward are recognized as deferred tax 
assets to the extent that it is probable that tax profit 
will be available in the future against which the tax 
losses carried forward can be utilized. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are offset against each other if 
the corresponding income taxes arise by the same 
tax authority and a legally enforceable right for 
offsetting exists.

2.24 Business combinations

All business combinations are accounted for using 
the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the fair value of the assets transferred, 
liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued,  
including the fair value of any asset or liability 
resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are 
expensed as incurred. The identifiable assets 
acquired or liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured 
initially at fair value at the acquisition date. The 
excess of the consideration transferred over the fair 
value of the identifiable net assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill and allocated to the cash-
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generating units or group of cash-generating units 
depending on the level at which it is monitored by 
management. If the consideration transferred is 
lower than the fair value of the acquirer’s share 
of the identifiable net assets acquired (bargain 
purchase), the difference is recognized directly in 
the income statement.

3. Financial risk management 

The Group classifies its financial assets and 
liabilities into the following categories as per IFRS 7:

Financial assets (in CHF 1 000)	  2015  	 2014	
		
Loans and receivables		

Cash and cash equivalents		   45 819  	  47 112  

Trade receivables		   26 657  	  29 644  

Other receivables		   3 593  	  3 934  

Total		   76 069  	  80 690    

			 

Financial liabilities (in CHF 1 000)	  2015 	  2014  

	Other financial liabilities at amortized cost	

Trade payables		   8 138  	  10 423  

Other payables		   14 258  	  15 166  

Borrowings		   772  	  1 050  

Total		   23 168  	  26 639  

No additional disclosures of fair value are 
presented because carrying value is a reasonable 
approximation of fair value.

3.1 Financial risk factors 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of 
financial risks: market risk (including foreign 
exchange risk, price risk and cash flow and fair 
value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

Generally, financial risk management focuses on 
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks 
to minimize potential adverse effects on financial 

performance, however, the Group does not use 
derivative financial instruments to hedge risk 
exposures. 

Risk management and its effectiveness are regularly 
monitored by the Board of Directors. 

a) Market risk 
Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed 
to foreign exchange risks arising from various 
currency exposures, primarily with respect to EUR 
(incl. pegged currencies) against USD. The Group 
does not actively hedge foreign exchange risks, 
however, where possible it seeks to reduce these 
risks by natural hedging (cash inflows and outflows 
in a specific currency should be in balance as much 
as possible).

Foreign exchange risks arise when commercial 
transactions of operations are not denominated in 
the functional currency of the respective legal entity, 
but instead in another currency. Foreign exchange 
risks also arise from translation differences when 
preparing the consolidated financial statements in 
Swiss Francs, however, they are excluded for the 
purpose of the sensitivity analysis for currency risk. 
As stated above there are currency exposures with 
respect to USD in the amount of CHF 5 207 (2014 
CHF 5 921). A change in foreign currency exchange 
rates of 10%, with all other variables held constant, 
would have caused the pre-tax result of the Group to 
be higher/lower by around CHF 521 (2014 CHF 592).

Price risk 
The Group is not exposed to either equity securities 
price risk or commodity price risk.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank 
overdrafts and long-term borrowings. Borrowings 
issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash 
flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed 
rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate 
risk. As a result of the Group’s positive net cash 
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position, the interest rate risk is considered to be 
immaterial. A sensitivity analysis has therefore  
not been provided. 

b) Credit risk
Credit risk is managed on a local basis for accounts 
receivable balances. Each local entity is responsible 
for managing and analyzing the credit risk for each 
of their new clients before standard payment and 
delivery terms and conditions are offered. Local 
management may also define credit limits for each 
customer. As there is no independent rating for 
most customers, local credit control departments 
assess the credit quality of the customers, taking 
into account their financial position, past experience 
and other factors. There is no concentration of 
credit risk in respect of trade receivables as the 
Group has a large number of geographically  
diverse customers.

Other credit risk arises from cash and cash 
equivalents and deposits with banks. Counterparty 

risk is minimized by ensuring that current 
account deposits are maintained with financial 
institutions whose credit ratings by one of the major 
independent rating agencies are usually at least 
“A-” or else the highest available in the country 
where the relevant group company is domiciled. 

c) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group would not be 
able to meet its financial obligations on time. The 
monitoring of liquidity and allocation of resources 
by the Group allows for maintenance of adequate 
liquidity levels at all times. In addition, the Group 
maintains credit lines with a number of financial 
institutions. 

The table below analyzes the Group’s financial 
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based 
on the remaining period at the balance sheet date 
to the contractual maturity date; the amounts 
disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows.

The remaining contractual maturities are as follows:
					  

(in CHF 1 000) 	 1 year 	 1-5 years 	 5 years 	 Total

Trade payables	  8 138  		   -  	  8 138  

Other payables	  12 933  	  1 325  	  -  	  14 258  

Bank overdrafts	  121  		   -  	  121  

Bank loans	 408  		   -  	  408  

Other loans	  78  	  165  	  -  	  243  

Leasing obligations	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  

Total		   21 678  	  1 490  	  -  	  23 168  

(in CHF 1 000) 	 1 year 	 1-5 years 	 5 years 	 Total

Trade payables	 10 423  	  -  	  -  	  10 423  

Other payables	  14 295  	  871  	  -  	  15 166  

Bank overdrafts	  286  	  -  	  -  	  286  

Bank loans	  391  	  -  	  -  	  391  

Other loans	  89  	  284  	  -  	  373  

Leasing obligations	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  

Total		   25 484  	  1 155  	  -  	  26 639  

	as at March 31, 2015	  less than 	 between 	 more than

	as at March 31, 2014  	 less than 	 between 	 more than
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3.2 Capital risk management 

The Group’s primary objective is to maintain a 
strong equity base in order to maintain investor, 
creditor and market confidence and to sustain the 
future development of the business. As of March 31, 
2015, equity represented 73.2% of total assets  
(2014 72.5%).

The Group reviews the capital structure and the 
equity of the subsidiaries as required to cover the 
associated risks.

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue 
new shares and issue or reduce debt. 

4. Critical accounting estimates and 
judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. The estimates and 
assumptions that may have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial periods mainly relate to income taxes, 
employee benefit obligations, allowance for  
doubtful accounts and warranties.

Income taxes
The Group is subject to taxation in numerous 
jurisdictions. In this respect the Group and its 
subsidiary companies are regularly exposed 
to audits by the various governmental bodies 
and authorities, where the outcome of findings 
particularly in the area of transfer pricing depends 
very often on individual judgements. Considerable 

judgement is required in determining tax provisions. 
Liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues are 
recognized based on estimates of whether 
additional taxes will be due. These estimates 
could prove to be too pessimistic, or, in a negative 
scenario, additional tax liabilities would have to be 
recorded in the future.

Furthermore, the capitalization of deferred tax 
assets is based on assumptions about the future 
profitability of certain group companies. There 
is an inherent risk that these estimates made by 
management may turn out to be too optimistic or 
too pessimistic.

Employee benefit obligations
The present value of the pension obligations 
depends on a number of factors that are 
determined on an actuarial basis using a number of 
assumptions. The assumptions used in determining 
the net cost (income) for pensions include the 
discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions 
will impact the carrying amount of pension 
obligations.

The group companies determine the appropriate 
discount rate at the end of each year. This is the 
interest rate that should be used to determine the 
present value of estimated future cash outflows 
expected to be required to settle the pension 
obligations. In determining the appropriate discount 
rate, the group companies consider the interest 
rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits 
will be paid and that have terms to maturity 
approximating the terms of the related pension 
obligations.

Other key assumptions for pension obligations 
are based in part on current market conditions. 
Additional information is disclosed in note 18.

Provision for impairment of receivables
To cover shortfalls from current trade receivables, 
the Group records a provision for impairment of 
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receivables based on historical information and on 
estimates in regard to the solvency of customers. 
Unexpected financial problems of major customers 
could lead to the situation where the recorded 
provision is insufficient.

Warranties
During regular course of business the group 
companies are faced with risks for warranties 
granted on the sale of products. Warranty provisions 
are built for products with extended useful lives, 
up to ten years, namely in the renewable energy 
market. The amount of warranty provision is 
determined based on experience and on the 
currently known warranty risk. The amount of the 
provision is assessed initially and subsequently 
reviewed annually by Group Management.

5. Segment reporting

The Group is an internationally active electronics 
company active in designing, manufacturing 
and marketing electronic control components 
for the global markets of industrial and building 
automation. The Group has only one operating 
and reportable segment, the information for the 
segment therefore mainly corresponds to the 
figures in the consolidated financial statements. 
When the Group implemented IFRS 8 “Operating 
Segments”, the following circumstances led to the 
conclusion that it only has one reportable segment:

–	 Internal monthly reporting for the only operating 
segment is carried out in concentrated form for 
the whole Group.

–	 Because of the close integration of the group 
companies, focusing individually on production, 
logistics, marketing and selling, key decisions 
are, consequently, made by corporate 
management at consolidated group level and 
not on the basis of the financial statements of 
individual legal entities.

–	 The holding company only provides corporate 
services; its operating result is monitored in the 
internal monthly reporting.

The reconciliation of EBIT to profit before income tax 
is as follows:

(in CHF 1 000)	 2014/15  	 2013/14  

EBIT		

 - Automation Components	  15 742  	  16 834  

 - Corporate	  (921) 	  (1 170) 

Total EBIT	  14 821  	  15 664  

Financial income (expense), net	  992  	  (949) 

Profit before income tax	  15 813  	  14 715  

Segment assets and liabilities are reconciled to total 
assets and liabilities as follows:

(in CHF 1 000)	 2015  	 2014  

		

Assets		

- Automation Components	  100 162  	  110 743  

- Corporate	  20 687  	  17 863  

Total assets	  120 849  	  128 606  

		

Liabilities		

- Automation Components	  29 663  	  33 560  

 - Corporate	  2 697  	  1 800  

Total liabilities	  32 360  	  35 360  



6. Employee benefit expense 

(in CHF 1 000)	 2014/15	 2013/14  

Wages and salaries	  37 337  	  37 843  

Post-employment benefit cost	  1 056  	  1 391  

Other social security cost	  7 383  	  7 450  

Other expenses	  722  	  596  

Total		   46 498  	  47 280  

Employee benefit expense is included in the  
income statement under cost of goods sold, 
research & development expense and selling, 
general and administrative expense.

7. Other operating income and expense

(in CHF 1 000)	 2014/15  	 2013/14  

Other operating income		   

Gain on sale of property, plant 

and equipment	  67  	  61  

Release of accrual for LTI	 -  	  502  

Other	 527  	  333  

Total other operating income	 594  	  896  

Other operating expense		

Loss on sale of property, plant 

and equipment	  (8) 	  (44) 

Personnel indemnity cost	  (364) 	  (1 066) 

Other	  (147) 	  (250) 

Total other operating expense	  (519) 	  (1 360) 

		

Total other operating income 

(expense), net	  75  	  (464) 
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Geographical information

Revenue from sale of goods by customer location
(in CHF 1 000)	 2014/15  	 2013/14  

Switzerland	  2 476  	  2 446  

Italy		   16 403  	  18 428  

Other EMEA	  74 315  	  75 622  

Total EMEA	  93 194  	  96 496  

USA		   18 988  	  18 420  

Other North America	  5 325  	  6 276  

Total North America	  24 313  	  24 696  

Asia 		   19 668  	  19 353  

Total Group	  137 175  	  140 545  

Non-current assets by location of assets
(in CHF 1 000)	 2015  	  2014  

Switzerland	  313  	  401  

Italy		   1 653  	  2 237  

Other EMEA	  11 998  	  12 386  

Total EMEA	  13 964  	  15 024  

USA		   165  	  150  

Other North America	  36  	  34  

Total North America	  201  	  184  

Asia 		   2 777  	  2 270  

Total Group	  16 942  	  17 478  

Revenues from external customers
The Group’s revenues are derived from the sale of a 
wide range of products to external customers from a 
large variety of markets. As a single product can be 
used in many different applications, sales revenue 
may not be reasonably split into groups of products 
or markets. Consequently, detailed information 
about products sold is not available and the cost to 
develop it would be excessive.

As stated above, the Group has a large number 
of customers and, during the periods, no single 
customer accounted for more than 10% of the 
Group’s revenue from sale of goods.
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8. Financial income and expense

(in CHF 1 000)	 2014/15  	 2013/14   

Financial income		   

Interest income on short-term 

bank deposits	  67  	  90  

Net foreign exchange gain	  997  	  -  

Total financial income	  1 064  	  90  

Financial expense		

Interest expense on bank borrowings	  (72) 	  (72) 

Net foreign exchange loss	  -  	  (967) 

Total financial expense	  (72) 	  (1 039) 

Total financial income (expense), net	  992  	  (949) 

9. Earnings per share

Earnings per registered share are computed based  
on the weighted average number of registered  
shares of CHF 3.00 each outstanding during  
the years.

Earnings per bearer share are computed based 
on the weighted average number of bearer shares 
of CHF 15.00 each outstanding during the years. 

Basic and diluted earnings per share are as follows:

(in CHF 1 000)	 2014/15	 2013/14  

Net profit attributable to owners of 

Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG	  12 266  	  11 155  

Percentage of registered shares 

outstanding in comparison 

with the share capital outstanding	 45.03%  	 45.03%  

Percentage of bearer shares 

outstanding in comparison 

with the share capital outstanding	 54.97%  	 54.97%  

Registered shares		

Net profit attributable to 

registered shareholders	  5 523  	  5 023  

Average number of shares 

outstanding	  1 600 000  	  1 600 000  

Basic and diluted earnings per 

registered share (CHF)	  3.45  	  3.14  

Bearer shares		

Net profit attributable to 

bearer shareholders	  6 743  	  6 132  

Average number of shares 

outstanding	  390 710  	  390 710  

Basic and diluted earnings per 

bearer share (CHF)	  17.26  	  15.69  
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10. Dividends paid and proposed

Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG pays one dividend per 
financial year. The Annual General Meeting held 
on July 29, 2014, resolved to distribute a dividend 
for the financial year 2013/14, with value August 6, 
2014, as follows (in CHF):
		   

Ordinary dividend per registered share	  CHF 	  2.40  

Ordinary dividend per bearer share	  CHF 	  12.00  

Total ordinary dividend paid	 CHF 1 000 	  8 529  

At the Annual General Meeting to be held on July 28, 
2015, payment of the following dividend for 2014/15 
will be proposed:
		   

Dividend per registered share	  CHF 	 2.40

Dividend per bearer share	  CHF 	 12.00

Proposed dividend	  CHF 1 000 	 8 529

11. Trade receivables

(in CHF 1 000)	 2015  	 2014  

Trade receivables	  27 416  	  30 934  

Less provision for impairment 

of receivables	  (759) 	  (1 290) 

Total	  26 657  	  29 644  

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables
 

						    2014/15	 2013/14    

Balance at April 1	  (1 290) 	  (1 685) 

Utilization of provision	  613  	  292  

Reversal of unused provision	  7  	  219  

Increase in provision	  (238) 	  (134) 

Foreign exchange effect	  149  	  18  

Balance at March 31	  (759) 	  (1 290)  

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Ageing analysis of trade receivables (in CHF 1 000)
						     
						    Not	
as at March 31, 2015	 Total  	 impaired 

Not overdue	  21 210  	  21 210  

Less than 1 month overdue	  3 099  	  3 069  

Between 1-3 months overdue	  1 385  	  972  

Between 3-6 months overdue	  790  	  592  

Between 6-12 months overdue	  366  	  162  

More than 12 months overdue	  566  	  3  

Total	  27 416  	  26 008  

 
						    Not
as at March 31, 2014	 Total  	 impaired  

Not overdue	  24 138  	  24 138  

Less than 1 month overdue	  3 257  	  3 225  

Between 1-3 months overdue	  1 464  	  1 052  

Between 3-6 months overdue	  401  	  236  

Between 6-12 months overdue	  482  	  395  

More than 12 months overdue	  1 192  	  79  

Total	  30 934  	  29 125  

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade 
receivables are denominated in the following 
currencies:	

(in CHF 1 000)	 2015  	 2014  

EUR	  13 523  	  16 589  

USD	  4 806  	  4 149  

CNY	  2 998  	  2 976  

SEK	  1 087  	  1 255  

DKK	  999  	  1 067  

NOK	  689  	  782  

CAD	  986  	  899  

GBP	  837  	  982  

Other	  732  	  945  

Total	  26 657  	  29 644  
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12. Other receivables

(in CHF 1 000)	 2015  	 2014  

Current		   

VAT and other tax receivables	  2 993  	  3 396  

Other receivables	  600  	  538  

Prepaid expense	  742  	  1 127  

Total current 	  4 335  	  5 061  

Non-current		

Other receivables	  1 713  	  1 296  

Total non-current	  1 713  	  1 296  

Total other receivables	  6 048  	  6 357  

		
The carrying amounts of the Group’s other 
receivables are denominated in the following 
currencies:					   
			 
(in CHF 1 000)	 2015	 2014  

EUR	  4 001  	  4 455  

Other	  2 047  	  1 902  

Total	  6 048  	  6 357  

All non-current receivables are due within five 
years from the end of the reporting period. No 
impairments were recognized on other receivables 
(none in 2013/14).

13. Inventories

(in CHF 1 000)	 2015	 2014  

Raw materials and supplies	  8 023  	  10 098  

Work in progress	  3 258  	  3 467  

Finished goods	  13 516  	  15 194  

Inventories, gross	  24 797  	  28 759  

Less allowance for valuation	  (4 392) 	  (5 173) 

Total	  20 405  	  23 586  

The cost of inventories recognized as expense and 
included in cost of goods sold in 2014/15 amounted 
to CHF 60 931(2013/14 CHF 62 116).
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14. Property plant and equipment
							    

(in CHF 1 000)	 Land  	 Buildings  	improvements  	equipment  	 fixtures	 Vehicles  	 equipment	 Total

Historical cost								      

Balance at April 1, 2013	  98  	  1 350  	  4 624  	  36 807  	  3 943  	  2 323  	  5 404  	  54 549  

Additions	  -  	  -  	  571  	  1 564  	  161  	  533  	  323  	  3 152  

Disposals	  -  	  -  	  (51) 	  (155) 	  (68) 	  (408) 	  (74) 	  (756) 

Currency translation differences	  -  	  2  	  (65) 	  (223) 	  (66) 	  (36) 	  (98) 	  (486) 

Reclassifications	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  

Balance at March 31, 2014	  98  	  1 352  	  5 079  	  37 993  	  3 970  	  2 412  	  5 555  	  56 459    

Additions			    234  	  3 012  	  106  	  538  	  277  	  4 167  

Disposals			    (8) 	  (505) 	  (606) 	  (259) 	  (351) 	  (1 729) 

Currency translation differences	  (14) 	  (194) 	  (452) 	  (4 868) 	  (430) 	  (328) 	  (638) 	  (6 924) 

Reclassifications	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	  -  

Balance at March 31, 2015	  84  	  1 158  	  4 853  	  35 632  	  3 040  	  2 363  	  4 843  	  51 973  

Accumulated depreciation								      

Balance at April 1, 2013	  -  	  (537) 	  (2 631) 	  (30 987) 	  (3 456) 	  (1 424) 	  (4 896) 	  (43 931) 

Annual depreciation	  -  	  (28) 	  (474) 	  (1 689) 	  (183) 	  (411) 	  (308) 	  (3 093) 

Depreciation on disposals	  -  	  -  	  30  	  124  	  95  	  345  	  67  	  661  

Currency translation differences	  -  	  (1) 	  39  	  133  	  47  	  14  	  83  	  315  

Reclassifications	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  

Balance at March 31, 2014	  -  	  (566) 	  (3 036) 	  (32 419) 	  (3 497) 	  (1 476) 	  (5 054) 	  (46 048) 

Annual depreciation	  -  	  (34) 	  (421) 	  (1 738) 	  (146) 	  (420) 	  (281) 	  (3 040) 

Depreciation on disposals	  -  		   4  	  395  	  603  	  240  	  345  	  1 587  

Currency translation differences	  -  	  85  	  334  	  4 326  	  396  	  215  	  610  	  5 966  

Reclassifications	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  

Balance at March 31, 2015	  -  	  (515) 	  (3 119) 	  (29 436) 	  (2 644) 	  (1 441) 	  (4 380) 	  (41 535) 

Net book value								      

at March 31, 2014	  98  	  786  	  2 043  	  5 574  	  473  	  936  	  501  	  10 411  

at March 31, 2015	  84  	  643  	  1 734  	  6 196  	  396  	  922  	  463  	  10 438  

thereof acquired under finance leases								      

at March 31, 2014	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  

at March 31, 2015	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  	  -  

The fire insurance value of property, plant and equipment (excluding land) amounted to CHF 34 037 
(2014 CHF 33 756).
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is included in the income statement under cost of goods 
sold, research & development expense and selling, general and administrative expense.

			   Machinery  	        Furniture			 
		     Leasehold	 and  	                   and		                            IT		
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15. Intangible assets

(in CHF 1 000)	 Goodwill  	 Software  		 Total

Historical cost				 

Balance at April 1, 2013	  6 668  	  1 929  	  8 597  

Additions	  -  	  239  	  239  

Disposals	  -  	  (38) 	  (38) 

Currency translation differences	  -  	  (12) 	  (12) 

Balance at March 31, 2014	  6 668  	  2 118  	  8 786  

Additions	  -  	  246  	  246  

Disposals	  -  	  (126) 	  (126) 

Currency translation differences	  (533) 	  (270) 	  (803) 

Balance at March 31, 2015	  6 135  	  1 968  	  8 103  

Accumulated amortization				 

Balance at April 1, 2013	  -  	  (1 503) 	  (1 503) 

Annual amortization	  -  	  (252) 	  (252) 

Amortization on disposals	  -  	  23  	  23  

Currency translation differences	  -  	  13  	  13  

Balance at March 31, 2014	  -  	  (1 719) 	  (1 719) 

Annual amortization	  -  	  (245) 	  (245) 

Amortization on disposals	  -  	  126  	  126  

Currency translation differences	  -  	  239  	  239  

Balance at March 31, 2015	  -  	  (1 599) 	  (1 599) 

Net book value				 

at March 31, 2014	  6 668  	  399  	  7 067  

at March 31, 2015	  6 135  	  369  	  6 504  

Within intangible assets only goodwill is assumed 
to have an indefinite life. Amortization of intangible 
assets is included in the income statement under 
cost of goods sold, research & development expense 
and selling, general and administrative expense.

All goodwill resulting from past business 
combinations is monitored for internal management 
purposes at the operating segment (ACBU) level, as 
reflected in these consolidated financial statements. 
Goodwill has been tested for impairment as at 
March 31, 2015 and at March 31, 2014 at this level. 
No impairment charge arose.

The recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units is determined based on value in 
use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax 

cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a three-year 
period. Cash flows beyond the three-year period are
extrapolated using an appropriate estimated growth 
rate of 1.5% at March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014. 
A decrease in projected growth rate after the year 
2017/18 to zero would not change the result of the 
impairment test. The discount rate applied to the 
cash flow projections is based on the weighted
average cost of capital and is correspondingly 
adjusted to the specific business risks. Pre-tax 
discount rates of between 5.5% and 8.5% were 
applied at March 31, 2015, and 8.5% at March 31, 
2014. Management is of the opinion that possible 
changes in the assumptions made, barring any
exceptional events, would not lead to any 
impairment charge.
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16. Other payables

(in CHF 1 000)	 2015  	 2014  

Current		

VAT payable	  1 395  	  1 568  

Payables to employees	  662  	  564  

Payables to social security institutions	  784  	  889  

Other payables	  604  	  820  

Advances	  50  	  52  

Accrued warranty costs	  1 001  	  1 202  

Accrued sundry claim costs	  104  	  74  

Accrued personnel expense	  6 718  	  7 401  

Other accrued expense	  1 615  	  1 725  

Total current 	  12 933  	  14 295  

Non-current		

Other payables	  153  	  150  

Accrued personnel expense	  1 172  	  721  

Total non-current	  1 325  	  871  

Total other payables	  14 258  	  15 166  

17. Borrowings

(in CHF 1 000)	 2015  	 2014  

Current		

Bank overdrafts	  121  	  286  

Bank loans	  408  	  391  

Other loans	  78  	  89  

Leasing obligations	  -  	  -  

Total current	  607  	  766  

Non-current		

Bank loans	  -  	  -  

Other loans	  165  	  284  

Leasing obligations	  -  	  -  

Total non-current	  165  	  284  

Total borrowings	  772  	  1 050  

The Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting 
periods mature as follows:			 

(in CHF 1 000)	 2015	 2014  

Less than 1 year	  607  	  766  

Between 1-3 years	  165  	  186  

Between 3-5 years	  -  	  98  

More than 5 years	  -  	  -  

Total	  772  	  1 050  

The carrying amounts of the Group‘s borrowings are 
denominated in the following currencies:		
	
(in CHF 1 000)	 2015  	 2014  

EUR	  364  	  659  

CNY	  408  	  391  

Total	  772  	  1 050  
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18. Employee benefit obligations 

The amounts recognized in the balance sheet for 
pension benefits are determined as follows:

(in CHF 1 000)	 2015  	 2014  

Present value of funded obligations	  7 549  	  6 497  

Fair value of plan assets	  (4 791) 	  (4 553) 

Underfunding	  2 758  	  1 944  

Present value of unfunded obligations	  4 645  	  4 798  

Total	  7 403  	  6 742  

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over 
the year is as follows:

(in CHF 1 000)	 2014/15  	 2013/14  

Balance at April 1	  11 295  	  8 986  

Current service cost	  533  	  525  

Contributions from plan participants	  95  	  94  

Interest cost	  254  	  244  

Actuarial losses (gains)	  1 358  	  555  

Benefits paid	  (220) 	  807  

Past service cost	  (103) 	  -  

Settlements and curtailments	  -  	  188  

Exchange differences	  (1 018) 	  (104) 

Balance at March 31	  12 194  	  11 295  

		
The movement in the fair value of plan assets over 
the year is as follows:			 
			 
(in CHF 1 000)	 2014/15  	 2013/14  

Balance at April 1	  4 553  	  3 211  

Contributions from employer	  424  	  383  

Contributions from plan participants	  95  	  94  

Interest income	  86  	  73  

Actuarial gains (losses)	  (18) 	  43  

Benefits paid	  (220) 	  807  

Administrative expense	  (5) 	  (5) 

Exchange differences	  (124) 	  (53) 

Balance at March 31	  4 791  	  4 553  

The employee benefit expense charged in the 
income statement under cost of goods sold, 
research & development expense and selling, 
general and administrative expense is as follows:

(in CHF 1 000)	 2014/15  	 2013/14  

Defined benefit plans	  604  	  891  

Defined contribution plans	  452  	  500  

Total	  1 056  	  1 391  

			 
The amounts recognized in the income statement 
are determined as follows:			 

(in CHF 1 000)	 2014/15  	 2013/14  

Defined benefit plans		

Current service cost	  533  	  525  

Interest cost, net	  254  	  244  

Return on plan assets (expected)	  (86) 	  (73) 

Administrative expense	  5  	  5  

Past service cost	  (103) 	  -  

Amortization of net gain (loss)	  1  	  2  

Curtailment loss (gain) recognized	  -  	  188  

Total defined benefit plans	  604  	  891  

Defined contribution plans		

Employer contributions	  452  	  500  

Total defined contribution plans	  452  	  500  

Total	  1 056  	  1 391  

			 
The remeasurement recognized in the statement of 
other comprehensive income is comprised as follows:
			 
(in CHF 1 000)	 2014/15 	 2013/14  

			 
Actuarial gains (losses)		

- 	arising from changes in 

	 demographic assumptions	  -  	  (60) 

- 	arising from changes in 

	 financial assumptions	  (1 391) 	  (257) 

- 	arising from plan experience	  34  	  (235) 

- 	arising from revaluation of assets	  62  	  1  

- 	Return on plan assets 

	 (excl. amounts in net interest)	  (80) 	  42  

Total	  (1 375) 	  (509) 
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During the next financial year the Group expects 
cash provisions to defined benefit plans to amount 
to CHF 255.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit 
obligation is 14 years.

The principal weighted average actuarial 
assumptions are as follows:

	 2014/15 	 2013/14  

Discount rate	 1.02%  	 2.35%  

Inflation rate	 1.25%  	 1.54%  

Future salary increases	 1.87%  	 2.28%  

Future pension increases	 1.33%  	 1.88%  

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to 
a change of +/- 0.25% in these assumptions is as 
follows:			

(in CHF 1 000)	 +0.25%  	 -0.25%  

Discount rate	  (189) 	  199  

Inflation rate	  34  	  (36) 

Future salary increases	  57  	  (57) 

Future pension increases	  92  	  (76) 

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience 
are set based on actuarial advice in accordance with 
published statistics and experience in each territory. 
Mortality assumptions for Switzerland are based on 
post-retirement mortality table BVG 2010 GT.

The methods and types of assumptions used in 
preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change 
compared to the previous period. 

Pension plan assets are allocated to the following 
categories:

	 2015 	 2014  

Cash and cash equivalents	 2.73%  	 3.53%  

Equity instruments	 26.71%  	 24.80%  

Debt instruments	 50.01%  	 52.14%  

Property	 11.29%  	 10.63%  

Other	 9.26%  	 8.90%  

Total	 100.00%  	 100.00%  

All equity and debt instruments are quoted or daily 
traded (mostly collective funds).

Carlo Gavazzi operates two funded defined benefit 
plans in Switzerland and Norway. The pension 
plans grant old-age, disability, spouse and child-
pensions. The benefits are granted in relation to 
a percentage of the salary (in Norway final salary 
plan). In Switzerland, when reaching retirement 
age, the savings capital will be converted at a fixed 
conversion rate into an old-age pension. In the 
event that an employee leaves his employment 
with Carlo Gavazzi prior to reaching pensionable 
age, the cumulative balance of the savings 
account is withdrawn from the pension plan and is 
transferred into the pension plan of the employee’s 
new employer. In the event that a pension fund 
would enter into an underfunded status, the active 
members and Carlo Gavazzi would be required to 
make additional contributions until such time as the 
fund is in a fully funded position. Both the Swiss and 
the Norwegian plans are expected to outperform 
corporate bonds in the long-term.

Pension plan assets of the subsidiaries in Norway 
and Switzerland are invested with trustee-
administered funds. Investment strategy and 
decisions are made at the sole discretion of the 
respective fund trustees. The governing body 
determines the level of benefits and the investment 
strategy for the plan assets based on asset/liability 
analyses performed periodically. The basis for these 
analyses are the statutory pension obligations as 
these largely determine the cash flows of the funds.
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Subsidiaries in all other jurisdictions provide 
unfunded pension plans only.

19. Other provisions

	 Restoration  	   
(in CHF 1 000)	 cost  	 Warranties  	 Total 

Balance at April 1, 2013	  425  	  240  	  665    

Additions	  36  	  -  	  36  

Utilization	  -  	  -  	  -  

Reversal of unused provision	  -  	  (6) 	  (6) 

Currency translation differences	  (2) 	  (1) 	  (3) 

Balance at March 31, 2014	  459  	  233  	  692    

Additions	  -  	  -  	  -  

Utilization	  -  	  -  	  -  

Reversal of unused provision	  -  	  (22) 	  (22) 

Currency translation differences	 (47) 	  (34) 	  (81) 

Balance at March 31, 2015	  412  	  177  	  589  

20. Income taxes

Income tax expense is as follows:

(in CHF 1 000)	 2014/15 	 2013/14  

Current income taxes	  4 018  	  4 775  

Adjustments in respect of prior periods	  368  	  (197) 

Deferred taxes	  (839) 	  (1 018) 

Total	  3 547  	  3 560  

Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG is incorporated in 
Switzerland but the Group operates in numerous 
countries with differing tax laws and rates. Profits 
are generated primarily outside Switzerland. 
The Group calculates its expected tax rate as a 
weighted average of the tax rates in the relevant tax 
jurisdictions. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to income 
tax expense is as follows:

(in CHF 1 000)	 2014/15 	 2013/14  

Profit before income tax	  15 813  	  14 715  

Average tax rate	 30.83%  	 31.89%  

Expected income tax expense	  4 875  	  4 693  

Effect of non-tax-deductible expense	  77  	  168  

Effect of non-taxable income	  (1 456) 	  (1 596) 

Increase in unrecognized tax losses	  (603) 	  -  

Utilization of previously unrecognized 

tax losses	  (163) 	  (123) 

Adjustments in respect of prior periods	  368  	  (197) 

Taxes not directly related to income	  503  	  499  

Other	  (54) 	  116  

Effective income tax expense	  3 547  	  3 560   

Variations in the average tax rate depend on the 
breakdown of results among the various entities 
and tax jurisdictions. The average tax rate remained 
stable in comparison with the previous year.

At the balance sheet date, the deferred tax assets 
and liabilities were attributable to items in the 
balance sheet as follows:

(in CHF 1 000)	 2015  	 2014  

Trade receivables	  (64) 	  (106) 

Inventories	  2 141  	  1 896  

Property, plant and equipment 

(non-current)	  234  	  537  

Intangible assets	  (102) 	  -  

Other assets	  118  	  134  

Other payables	  1 561  	  1 037  

Tax loss carry-forwards	  921  	  825  

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)	  4 809  	  4 323  

of which reported in the balance sheet as:	

Deferred income tax assets	  4 978  	  4 429  

Deferred income tax liabilities	  (169) 	  (106) 
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For tax return purposes, certain subsidiaries  
have tax loss carry-forwards of CHF 4 508 (2014 
CHF 6 513). Of these, CHF 3 719 have no expiration 
date, CHF 91 expire in the year ending March 31, 
2024 and CHF 698 expire in the years ending after 
March 31, 2025.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax 
loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realization 
of the related tax benefit through future taxable 
profits is probable. The Group did not recognize 
deferred income tax assets of CHF 289 (2014  
CHF 810) in respect of losses amounting to  
CHF 1 076 (2014 CHF 3 227) which can be carried 
forward against future taxable income, of which  
CHF 91 expire in the year ending March 31, 2024, 
CHF 135 expire in the years ending after March 31,  
2025, with the balance of CHF 850 having no 
expiration date.

21. Share capital

The share capital of Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG  
at March 31, 2015 amounts to CHF 10 661 (2014 
CHF 10 661) and is divided into registered shares 
of CHF 3.00 each and bearer shares of CHF 15.00 
each. Each share carries one vote and all shares are 
entitled to receive dividends. The registered share 
capital amounts to CHF 4 800 divided into  
1 600 000 registered shares of CHF 3.00 each (2014: 
1 600 000 of CHF 3.00 each). The bearer share 
capital amounts to CHF 5 861 divided into 390 710 
bearer shares of CHF 15.00 each (2014: 390 710 of 
CHF 15.00 each). All issued shares are fully paid.

There are no restrictions in Carlo Gavazzi Holding 
AG’s statutes concerning the registration of 
registered shares. Under Swiss law, a company can 
hold up to a maximum of 10% of its own shares. As 
at March 31, 2015 and 2014, the Group held no own 
shares.

22. Commitments and contingencies

Guarantees and sureties
The Group has guaranteed the debt to banks 
and other third parties on behalf of consolidated 
subsidiaries to cover banking facilities amounting 
to CHF 1 475 (2014  CHF 1 635). These guarantees 
have no expiry date and continue to be effective as 
long as the respective banking facilities continue  
to be extended.

There are no loans and overdraft facilities granted 
to group companies by outside lenders which have 
been collateralized by pledging assets.

Leasing, rental and other commitments
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments for 
the Group not recognized in the balance sheet are 
as follows:

(in CHF 1 000)	 2015 	 2014  

Less than 1 year	  2 310  	  2 732  

Between 1-5 years	  5 278  	  7 636  

More than 5 years	  742  	  1 254  

Total	  8 330  	  11 622  

The Group rents various offices, factories and 
warehouses under non-cancellable operating lease 
agreements for periods not exceeding ten years. 
Most of these contracts are renewable. Rental 
expense under operating leases amounted to  
CHF 2 716 (2013/14 CHF 2 828), whereas rental 
income under subleases amounted to CHF 35 
(2013/14 CHF 35).

Pending legal cases
There are no legal cases pending against the Group 
where the outcome could have any material effect 
on the financial statements.
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23. Related party transactions

The related parties consist primarily of 
shareholders, members of the Board of Directors 
and members of Executive Management.

Key management compensation
Key management consists of members of Board of 
Directors and members of Executive Management. 
The compensation paid or payable to key 
management (all for short-term benefits), including 
employer’s social security contributions, amounted 
to CHF 1 166 (2013/14 CHF 1 202).

Other transactions with related parties
As disclosed in the 2013/14 Financial Statements, 
on April 11, 2014, the Group announced a 
sponsorship partnership with Sauber F1 affiliated 
racing driver Simona De Silvestro under which 
agreement, the Group sponsored her during the 
financial year 2014/15 at a cost of CHF 264.
Simona De Silvestro is a niece of Board Director 
Daniel Hirschi.

There were no other transactions with related 
parties during the periods.

24. Events after the balance sheet date

There were no events subsequent to the balance 
sheet date that require adjustment to or disclosure 
in the financial statements except as follows:

On April 2, 2015, the Group was advised that an ad 
hoc Arbitration under the UNCITRAL Arbitration 
Rules had issued a Final Award in favour of the 
Group of principal, arbitration and legal costs of 
CHF 2 096 plus interest at Euribor 1 month 
+2% from October 6, 2010. Until issuance of this 
annual report, the amount of the Award has not 
been received from the respondent and the Group 
is unable to estimate when in the future it may 
be received. In the meantime, the Group has put 
in place an action to attempt enforcement of the 
Award. Subsequently, on May 13, 2015, the Group 
was advised that the respondent had lodged an 
appeal against the Final Award of the Arbitral 
Tribunal at the Swiss Federal Tribunal, Lausanne. 
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25. Subsidiaries

At March 31, 2015 the following significant non-listed companies were held by 
Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG:

								       Share capital  
Percentage of shares held			  Company name and domicile		  (Local currency in 1 000)  

100%				    CARLO GAVAZZI PARTICIPATION DANMARK A/S, Hadsten, Denmark	 DKK	  10 000  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI GmbH, Vienna, Austria	 EUR	  73  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI SA,  Vilvoorde, Belgium	 EUR	  224  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI (CANADA) Inc, Mississauga, Canada	 CAD	  5  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI AUTOMATION (KUNSHAN) Co Ltd, Kunshan, China	 CNY	  7 484  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI HANDEL A/S, Hadsten, Denmark	 DKK	  5 000  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI INDUSTRI A/S, Hadsten, Denmark	 DKK	  10 000  

			   100%  		 CARLO GAVAZZI INDUSTRI KAUNAS UAB, Kaunas, Lithuania	 LTL	  35  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI OY AB, Helsinki, Finland	 EUR	  50  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI Sàrl, Roissy, France		  EUR	  274  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI GmbH, Darmstadt, Germany	 EUR	  500  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI UK Ltd, Aldershot, Great Britain	 GBP	  100  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI SpA, Lainate, Italy		  EUR	  2 300  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI AUTOMATION SpA, Lainate, Italy	 EUR	  7 180  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI LOGISTICS SpA, Lainate, Italy	 EUR	  1 500  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI CONTROLS SpA, Belluno, Italy	 EUR	  916  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI AUTOMATION (M) Sdn Bhd, Petaling Jaya, Malaysia	 MYR	  730  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI Ltd, Zejtun, Malta		  EUR	  1 048  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI BV, Beverwijk, Netherlands	 EUR	  136  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI AS, Porsgrunn, Norway	 NOK	  1 000  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI UNIPESSOAL Lda, Lisbon, Portugal	 EUR	  25  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI AUTOMATION SINGAPORE Pte Ltd, Singapore	 USD	  358  

			   100%  	 CARLO GAVAZZI AUTOMATION (CHINA) Co Ltd, Shenzhen, China	 CNY	  1 735  

			   100%  	 CARLO GAVAZZI AUTOMATION HONG KONG Ltd, Hong Kong	 HKD	  50  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI SA, Leioa, Spain		  EUR	  451  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI AB, Karlstad, Sweden	 SEK	  800  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI AG, Steinhausen, Switzerland	 CHF	  200  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI Inc, Buffalo Grove, USA	 USD	  5  

			   1%  	 CARLO GAVAZZI Mexico SA de CV, Mexico City, Mexico	 MXN	  1 328  

		  99%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI Mexico SA de CV, Mexico City, Mexico	 MXN	  1 328  

		  100%  			  CARLO GAVAZZI Automação Ltda, Sao Paulo, Brazil	 BRL	  1 944  

100%					    CARLO GAVAZZI INTERNATIONAL NV, Willemstad, Curaçao	 CHF	  24 000  

100%					    CARLO GAVAZZI SERVICES AG, Steinhausen, Switzerland	 CHF	  500  

There were no major changes in principal subsidiaries held by the Group during the years ended 
March 31, 2015 and 2014. 
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26. Risk assessment according to Swiss Code 
of Obligations

Financial risk assessment and management is an 
integral part of the Group’s risk management.

The Group has established a fully integrated risk 
process that captures and evaluates the most 
important operational, strategic and financial risks. 
The key risks are entered in a risk and controls 
matrix and are rated on the basis of the potential 
degree of impact and the likelihood of each 
individual risk. Based on the Group’s risk tolerance, 
Management either initiates measures to reduce 
the degree of impact and/or the likelihood of the 
risk occurring, or deliberately takes on specific risks.

The Board of Directors evaluates the effectiveness 
of the risk management system on an annual basis.



Bruno Häfliger	
Audit expert	
Auditor in charge

Zug, June 26, 2015

Daniel Wyss
Audit expert

To the General Meeting of Shareholders of 
Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG, Steinhausen
As statutory auditor, we have audited the 
consolidated financial statements of Carlo Gavazzi 
Holding AG, which comprise the statements of 
comprehensive income, balance sheets, statements 
of changes in equity, statements of cash flows and 
notes (pages 39 to 72), for the year ended March 31, 
2015.

Board of Directors’ responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for 
the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and the requirements of Swiss law. This 
responsibility includes designing, implementing 
and maintaining an internal control system 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. The Board of Directors is further responsible 
for selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards as well 
as the International Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers the internal control system relevant to 
the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements in order 

Carlo Gavazzi Group

Report of the Statutory Auditor

to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control system. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of the 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended March 31, 2015 give a true and 
fair view of the financial position, the results of 
operations and the cash flows in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and comply with Swiss law. 

Report on other legal requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements 
on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight 
Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and 
article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances 
incompatible with our independence.
In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 
3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm 
that an internal control system exists which has 
been designed for the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements according to the instructions of 
the Board of Directors.
We recommend that the consolidated financial 
statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG
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(in CHF 1 000)	 Notes	 2015 	 2014

 

Investment result			   	

Dividend income		  12 188	 13 730

Net investment result		  12 188	 13 730

Financial result			 

Financial income - interest		  6	 4

Financial expense - exchange loss		  0	 (9)

Net financial result		  6	 (5)

Miscellaneous result			 

Miscellaneous income		  18	 55

Administrative and other expense		  (417)	 (509)

Increase in provision for investments		  (200)	 (300)

Net miscellaneous result		  (599)	 (754)

Income before taxes		  11 595	 12 971

Taxes		  (1)	 (2)

Net income		  11 594	 12 969

See notes to financial statements
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(in CHF 1 000)	 Notes	 2015	 2014

Assets			 

Current assets			 

Liquid funds		  19 518	 16 984

Other accounts receivable - third parties		  1	 1

Other accounts receivable - Group Companies		  706	 52

Total current assets		  20 225	 17 037

Non-current assets			 

Financial assets - investments, gross	 2	 79 536	 79 536

Financial assets - provision for investments		  (15 000)	 (14 800)

Financial assets - investments, net		  64 536	 64 736

Total non-current assets		  64 536	 64 736

Total assets		  84 761	 81 773

Liabilities and shareholders‘ equity			 

Current liabilities			 

Other short-term liabilities - third parties		  38	 36

Other short-term liabilities - Group Companies		  0	 5

Provisions - taxes		  2	 3

Accrued expenses		  366	 439

Total short-term liabilities		  406	 483

Total liabilities		  406	 483

Shareholders‘ equity			 

Share capital	 3,4	 10 661	 10 661

Legal reserves - general		  2 150	 2 150

Reserve for capital contribution		  38	 38

Free reserves		  54 837	 54 837

Retained earnings		  16 669	 13 604

Total shareholders‘ equity		  84 355	 81 290

Total liabilities and shareholders‘ equity		  84 761	 81 773

See notes to financial statements
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(in CHF 1 000)			 

 

Retained earnings

Balance March 31, 2013			   18 403

Dividend paid			   (17 768)

Net income 2013/14			   12 969

Balance March 31, 2014			   13 604

Dividend paid			   (8 529)

Net income 2014/15			   11 594

Balance March 31, 2015			   16 669

Proposal of the Board of Directors for 2014/15 regarding appropriation of retained earnings			 

			 

Distribution of dividend			 

- 1 600 000 registered shares at CHF 2.40 per share			   3 840

- 390 710 bearer shares at CHF 12.00 per share			   4 689

To be carried forward			   8 140

Retained earnings per balance sheet			   16 669
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All amounts are in CHF 1 000 unless 
otherwise stated.

1. Securities, guarantees and pledges 

Guarantees issued in favour of subsidiary 
companies and affiliates amounted to CHF 1 475 
(2014 CHF 1 635).
The Company is a member of a VAT group and is 
therefore jointly and severably liable for the payment 
of the VAT liabilities of the other members of the 
Swiss VAT group.

2. Significant investments  

Details of the principal subsidiaries held by Carlo 
Gavazzi Holding AG and major changes during the 
year are included in note 25 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

3. Capital structure

The Company’s share capital is divided into 
registered shares of CHF 3.00 each and bearer 
shares of CHF 15.00 each. Each share carries one 
vote. The registered share capital amounts to  
CHF 4 800 divided into 1 600 000 registered shares 
of CHF 3.00 each (2014: 1 600 000 of CHF 3.00 each). 
The paid-in bearer share capital amounts to  
CHF 5 861 divided into 390 710 bearer shares of  
CHF 15.00 each (2014: 390 710 of CHF 15.00 each).
There are no restrictions in the Company’s statutes 
concerning the registration of registered shares. 
Under Swiss law, a company can hold up to a 
maximum of 10% of its own shares. 
All shares are entitled to receive dividends.

4. Major shareholders and their shareholdings  

This note has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of article 663c of the Swiss Code of 
Obligations (SCO).

Shareholdings of members of the Board of Directors

			   Valeria Gavazzi  	 Stefano Premoli Trovati  	 Federico Foglia  	 Daniel Hirschi  	   	
at March 31, 2015	 Chairman  	 Vice-Chairman  	 Member  	 Member  	 Total 

					   
Number of bearer shares	  *  	  -  	  911  	  -  	  911  

In percentage of share capital	  *  	  -  	  0.13  	  -  	  0.13  

In percentage of voting rights	  *  	  -  	  0.04  	  -  	  0.04  

Value of shares (in CHF 1 000)	  *  	  -  	  194  	  -  	  194  

					   
					   
			   Valeria Gavazzi  	 Stefano Premoli Trovati  	 Federico Foglia 	 Daniel Hirschi	
at March 31, 2014	 Chairman  	 Vice-Chairman  	 Member  	 Member  	 Total 

					   
Number of bearer shares	  *  	  -  	  911  	  -  	  911  

In percentage of share capital	  *  	  -  	  0.13  	  -  	  0.13  

In percentage of voting rights	  *  	  -  	  0.04  	  -  	  0.04  

Value of shares (in CHF 1 000)	  *  	  -  	  209  	  -  	  209  

(*) At March 31, 2015 and 2014, Valeria Gavazzi, Chairman, personally owns nil bearer shares and
29 350 registered shares with 0.83% of the share capital and 1.47% of the voting rights. In addition, 
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Valeria Gavazzi indirectly controls 1 440 000 
registered shares and 834 bearer shares with 
40.64% of the share capital and 72.38% of the voting 
rights (total direct and indirect control of 41.47% of 
the share capital and 73.85% of the voting rights).  
In addition, the mother, Uberta Gavazzi, Zug, owns 
94 000 registered shares and 4 495 bearer shares 
(corresponding to 3.28% of the share capital and 
4.95% of the voting rights).

Apart from these shareholders, there are no other 
major shareholders known to the Company holding 
more than 3% of the voting rights.

Shareholdings of members of Group Management
At March 31, 2015 and 2014, the members of Group 
Management held no shares in the Company.

		
5. Risk assessment according to Swiss Code of 
Obligations

The Company is fully integrated into the group-wide 
risk assessment process of the Carlo Gavazzi Group.
This group risk assessment process addresses 
the nature and scope of business activities and its 
specific risks. Detailed information on the Group’s 
risk assessment is disclosed in note 26 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Bruno Häfliger	
Audit expert	
Auditor in charge

Zug, June 26, 2015

Daniel Wyss
Audit expert

Report of the Statutory Auditor

To the General Meeting of Shareholders of 
Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG, Steinhausen
As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial 
statements of Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG, which 
comprise the income statements, balance sheets, 
statements of changes in retained earnings and 
reserves and notes (pages 75 to 80), for the year 
ended March 31, 2015.

Board of Directors’ responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the requirements of Swiss law 
and the Company’s Articles of Incorporation. This 
responsibility includes designing, implementing 
and maintaining an internal control system relevant 
to the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further 
responsible for selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law 
and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers the internal control system 
relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control 

system. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of the accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year 
ended March 31, 2015 comply with Swiss law and 
the Company’s Articles of Incorporation.
 
Report on other legal requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements 
on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight 
Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and 
article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances 
incompatible with our independence.
In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 
3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm 
that an internal control system exists which has 
been designed for the preparation of financial 
statements according to the instructions of the 
Board of Directors.
We further confirm that the proposed appropriation 
of available earnings complies with Swiss law 
and the Company’s Articles of Incorporation. We 
recommend that the financial statements submitted 
to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG
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Group

Headquarters

Switzerland	 CARLO GAVAZZI HOLDING AG	 +41 41 747 45 25	 gavazzi@carlogavazzi.ch	

Automation Components

Headquarters

Italy	 CARLO GAVAZZI AUTOMATION SPA	 +39 02 931 761	 info@gavazziautomation.com	

Sourcing Companies

China	 CARLO GAVAZZI AUTOMATION (KUNSHAN) CO LTD	 +86 512 5763 9300	 cgak@carlogavazzi.cn	

Italy	 CARLO GAVAZZI CONTROLS SPA	 +39 0437 35 58 11	 controls@gavazziacbu.it 	

Lithuania	 CARLO GAVAZZI INDUSTRI KAUNAS UAB	 +370 37 32 82 27	 info@gavazzi.lt		

Malta	 CARLO GAVAZZI LTD	 +356 2 360 1100	 gavazzi@carlogavazzi.com.mt	

National Sales Companies

Austria	 CARLO GAVAZZI GMBH	 +43 1 888 4112	 office@carlogavazzi.at	

Belgium	 CARLO GAVAZZI NV/SA	 +32 2 257 41 20	 sales@carlogavazzi.be	

Brazil	 CARLO GAVAZZI AUTOMAÇÃO LTDA	 +55 11 3052 0832	 info@carlogavazzi.com.br	

Canada	 CARLO GAVAZZI (CANADA) INC	 +1 905 542 0979	 gavazzi@carlogavazzi.com	

China	 CARLO GAVAZZI AUTOMATION (CHINA) CO LTD	 +86 755 8369 9500	 sales@carlogavazzi.cn	

Denmark	 CARLO GAVAZZI HANDEL A/S	 +45 89 60 61 00	 handel@gavazzi.dk		

Finland	 CARLO GAVAZZI OY AB	 +358 9 756 2000	 myynti@gavazzi.fi		

France	 CARLO GAVAZZI SARL	 +33 1 49 38 98 60	 french.team@carlogavazzi.fr	

Germany	 CARLO GAVAZZI GMBH	 +49 6151 81000	 info@gavazzi.de		

Great Britain	 CARLO GAVAZZI UK LTD	 +44 1276 854110	 sales@carlogavazzi.co.uk	

Hong Kong	 CARLO GAVAZZI AUTOMATION HONG KONG LTD	 +852 2304 1228	 info@carlogavazzi.com.sg 	

Italy	 CARLO GAVAZZI SPA	 +39 02 9317 61	 info@gavazziacbu.it		

Malaysia	 CARLO GAVAZZI AUTOMATION (M) SDN BHD	 +60 3 7842 7299	 sales@gavazzi-asia.com	

Mexico	 CARLO GAVAZZI MEXICO SA de CV	 +52 55 5373 7042	 mexicosales@carlogavazzi.com	

Netherlands	 CARLO GAVAZZI BV	 +31 251 22 93 45	 info@carlogavazzi.nl		

Norway	 CARLO GAVAZZI AS	 +47 35 93 08 00	 post@gavazzi.no		

Portugal	 CARLO GAVAZZI UNIPESSOAL LDA	 +351 21 361 7060	 carlogavazzi@carlogavazzi.pt	

Singapore	 CARLO GAVAZZI AUTOMATION SINGAPORE PTE LTD	 +65 6746 6990	 info@carlogavazzi.com.sg	

Spain	 CARLO GAVAZZI SA	 +34 94 480 40 37	 gavazzi@gavazzi.es		

Sweden	 CARLO GAVAZZI AB	 +46 54 85 11 25	 info@carlogavazzi.se		

Switzerland	 CARLO GAVAZZI AG	 +41 41 747 45 35	 info@carlogavazzi.ch		

USA	 CARLO GAVAZZI INC	 +1 847 465 6100	 sales@carlogavazzi.com	
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Share price
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Information for Investors

    *Proposal of the Board of Directors

  **Certain numbers are restated due to adoption of new accounting standards

***of this amount for 2010/11, CHF 2.00 was paid from the reserve for capital contribution

		  2014/15 	 2013/14	 2012/13**	 2011/12	 2010 / 11

Registered shares						    

Nominal value CHF 3						    

Shares issued	 Number	 1 600 000	 1 600 000	 1 600 000	 1 600 000	 1 600 000

Share of capital	 %	 45.0	 45.0	 45.0	 45.0	 45.0

Share of voting rights	 %	 80.4	 80.4	 80.4	 80.4	 80.4

Share price	 The registered shares are not traded on the SIX Swiss Exchange			

Bearer shares						    

Nominal value CHF 15						    

Shares issued	 Number	 390 710	 390 710	 390 710	 390 710	 390 710

Share of capital	 %	 55.0	 55.0	 55.0	 55.0	 55.0

Share of voting rights	 %	 19.6	 19.6	 19.6	 19.6	 19.6

Share price as of March 31	 CHF	 214	 229	 214	 209	 211

Share price - high	 CHF	 261	 230	 222	 253	 219

Share price - low	 CHF	 187	 193	 184	 174	 148

Average daily volume	 Number	 564	 611	 486	 623	 444

P/E Ratio	 Factor	 12.4	 14.6	 12.2	 8.9	 6.6

Basic earnings per share	 CHF	 17.3	 15.7	 17.6	 23.6	 32.0

Book value per share	 CHF	 125	 131	 142	 136	 147

Stock market capitalization	 CHF 1 000	 152 092	 162 753	 152 092	 148 538	 149 960

- in percentage of revenue	 %	 110.9	 115.8	 109.9	 104.0	 82.5

- in percentage of equity	 %	 171.9	 174.5	 150.2	 154.2	 144.0

Dividend per share (ordinary)***	 CHF	 12.0*	 12.0	 10.0	 12.0	 10.0

- dividend yield	 %	 5.6*	 5.2	 4.7	 5.7	 4.7

- total pay-out	 CHF 1 000	 8 529*	 8 529	 7 107	 8 529	 7 107

- pay-out ratio	 %	 69.5*	 76.5	 56.5	 50.9	 31.3

Dividend per share (extraordinary)	 CHF	 -	 -	 15.0	 -	 15.0

- dividend yield	 %	 -	 -	 7.0	 -	 7.1

- total pay-out	 CHF 1 000	 -	 -	 10 661	 -	 10 661

- pay-out ratio	 %	 -	 -	 84.9	 -	 46.9

Restriction of voting rights
There are no limits on registration of voting rights

		

Financial calendar
Shareholders‘ meeting 2014/15:	 July 28, 2015	
Interim report 2015/16:	 November 26, 2015	
Press and financial analysts‘ meeting 2015/16:	 June 23, 2016	
Shareholders‘ meeting 2015/16:	 July 26, 2016	
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